
TOWN OF 

NEW LONDON, NEW HAMPSHIRE 
375 MAIN STREET • NEW LONDON, NH  03257 • WWW.NL-NH.COM 

 

 
 

          DRAFT  

Budget Committee Meeting  

Meeting Minutes 

December 9, 2015 

 

 

BUDGET COMMITTEE MEMBERS PRESENT: Rob Prohl (Chair), Joe Cardillo (Vice-Chair), Tyler 

Beck, Phyllis Piotrow, John Wilson, Chris Lorio, Bruce Hudson, Colin Campbell, Peter Bianchi (Board 

of Selectmen’s Representative) 

BUDGET COMMITTEE MEMBERS ABSENT: Suzanne Jesseman 

STAFF PRESENT:  
Kimberly Hallquist, Town Administrator 

Wendy Johnson, Finance Officer 

 

OTHERS PRESENT: 

Linda Hardy, Town Clerk/Tax Collector 

Richard Lee, Public Works Director 

Bill Hardy, New London Resident 

Ed Andersen, Police Chief 

Jay Lyon, Fire Chief 

Steve Ensign, Board of Firewards 

Donna Larrow, Police Department Administrative Assistant 

 

Chair Prohl called the meeting to order at 7:00pm.  

 

Minutes of December 2nd  

IT WAS MOVED (Bruce Hudson) AND SECONDED (Joe Cardillo) to approve the minutes of 

December 2nd as amended. THE MOTION WAS APPROVED UNANIMOUSLY. 

 

Selectmen’s Report 

Selectman Bianchi went over some increases in the budget since the last Selectmen’s meeting: 

1. Executive: $100,000 compensation pool for employee raises and employee study  

2. Leave-time Buyout: up by $1,700 to cover anticipated retirement 

3. Planning and Zoning: up by $16,000 for a part-time Code Enforcement Officer 

4. Police Department: up by $36,000 for the cruiser - in the past this expense has been in capital 

expenditures  

5. Fire Department: up $8,000 to purchase 2 100’ hydraulic hoses for the JAWS of Life 

6. Transfer Station: $8,000 increase for conferences and signs  

7. Transfer to Capital Reserve: increased $167,000 

8. Health Insurance: up 9.2% which is about a $37,000 increase 

9. Workman’s Compensation: up 12% 

 

Selectman Bianchi said when comparing the proposed budget with last year’s budget, capital outlay 

expenditures are coming from existing funds, which is taxpayer money that has been accrued and is not 

raised in 2016. In 2017, this is the same. If they take out the capital outlay from both budgets and the 



Budget Committee  DRAFT – December 9, 2015 

Meeting Minutes  Page 2 of 6 

 

 

budget is approved as presented, there will be a $460,000 increase in what has to be raised by taxes. This 

is an increase of 6.97%.  

 

Selectman Bianchi said it is difficult to guess revenues as they are on the fiscal year. Chair Prohl asked if 

there was anything coming down the road that they know about to replace the revenue the Town gained 

last year by closing out some capital reserve accounts that were unused/unnecessary and came to 

$240,000.  Selectman Bianchi and Wendy Johnson (Finance Officer) said they weren’t anticipating any 

new revenue sources.  

 

Mr. Wilson said the tax rate would go up another 10-11% if they cannot make up the $240,000. 

Selectman Bianchi said the last two years they have used $450,000 unreserved fund balance to offset the 

tax rate. He added that they are trying to project a long way away and this may have been an 

unanticipated complication with moving the Town Meeting back to March and changing to the fiscal 

year.  

 

Selectman Bianchi said the bonded debt interest and principal is decreasing from last year. It shows on the 

statement of bonded debt that each budget committee member received. 

 

Ms. Piotrow asked if all the recommendations by the personnel committee will be met by the $100,000 

pool. Selectman Bianchi said 5% of $2,000,000 (the amount that accounts for employee wages) is where 

they got the $100,000 figure. They don’t know the details right now but once the study is done there will 

be a determination as to what raises and/or bonuses should be awarded. A 1% across the board raise 

would come to $20,400. Ms. Hallquist said additional funding for fixed costs associated with 

compensation (FICA/Medicare) may need to be acquired elsewhere by the Selectmen. 

 

Mr. Cardillo asked if differentials would be considered on top of salary increases. Ms. Hallquist said they 

can discuss increases but the Selectmen did not vote on salaries. Differentials are included in the numbers 

the budget committee members have.  Ms. Piotrow wonders when they will know the numbers for 

salaries.  Selectman Bianchi said health insurance rates (increased by 9.2%) are not affected by salary so 

those numbers were not necessary to have at the moment. 

  

Dr. Wilson said if they can’t recover the $240,000 their tax rate they had last year from the closed-out 

CIP lines, the budget will go up 18%. Ms. Johnson said she came up with 11%. Dr.Wilson said for each 

$10,000 increased, it is about .01 in the tax rate. They have gone up almost $.46 in the tax rate already. 

He noted that if $240,000 isn’t found, the operating budget will go up 7%. Mr. Wilson noted that the CPI 

is -.1% and there has been no social security increase in payments. Medicare has increased in cost. He 

wanted to point out these facts before they start their budget discussion.  

 

Selectman Bianchi said the school district representatives for New London came to the last Selectmen’s 

meeting. They are proposing a 2.06% increase. The school budget is a little over $40,000,000. If the 

teacher’s contracts go through, the increase will be more.  

 

Mr. Cardillo said he came up with 17.26% increase due to the loss of the $240,000 revenue from last 

year. Ms. Johnson said she would stick to her 11%. It was noted there are a lot of variables and it is hard 

to get an exact figure at this point. 

 

Police Department 

Chair Prohl said it looks like only $1,500 has been spent in the training line. Chief Andersen said some 

time cards that were submitted did not differentiate training hours from regular or overtime hours. He has 



Budget Committee  DRAFT – December 9, 2015 

Meeting Minutes  Page 3 of 6 

 

 

to sit down with Ms. Johnson to fix this. The overtime is up because they have been down an officer for 

five months.  

 

Chief Andersen went through the lines that have changed over last year: 

1. Telephone: he moved this down $500. They spent close to $15,000 this past year 

2. Shift differential: he requests a $1/hour shift differential for those who work between 11pm and 

7am. He said midnights are the hardest shifts to work. It is unhealthy on bodies and sleep 

patterns. He said New London is the worst-sized department to work for because it is a 24/7 

department with only eight full time officers. People constantly have to switch with others to 

cover when people are out. A lot of people don’t want to come work for New London because 

they don’t want to work midnights. This is why he is requesting the differential to offer a benefit 

to attract and retain employees. The Town of New London used to have a shift differential but for 

some reason it was taken away.  

 

Chair Prohl asked what the average number of calls are during the midnight shift. Chief Andersen said it 

can vary between over 100 calls to just a few. He noted that New London is asked a lot for help by the 

State Police, from Andover to Grantham. He believes assisting in these cases when possible is beneficial 

to the Town as the State Police assist New London as well.  

 

3. Training Wages: Chief Andersen said he split the overtime to determine the number he used. The 

NH Police Academy is funded by a percentage of fines given. The Police Academy was running 

at a surplus but the State has taken away much of this and now agencies are having to pay for 

trainings that used to be free. These costs were not anticipated in his budgeting last year. Chief 

Andersen said he has signed a petition to re-fund the Police Academy but isn’t sure what will 

happen. 

 

With regards to Vehicle Maintenance, Chair Prohl asked how many vehicles are no longer under 

warranty. Chief Andersen said the Expedition has one year left on its warranty but the van is not running 

in the fleet and is not under warranty. The rest of the vehicles in the fleet are under warranty.   

 

There was discussion about a town-wide vehicle maintenance fund which would be meant for 

catastrophic vehicle/apparatus/equipment emergencies to keep from taking funds from other parts of the 

budget.   

 

Chair Prohl asked about Computer Support and Service. Chief Andersen said their contracts are through 

Systems Plus who does their back-up and charge monthly fees. They also charge repairs for computers 

from this line. Chief Andersen said they are looking at using another computer company.  The reason for 

this is because personnel from Systems Plus have to be certified to work on the Police Department 

computers due to the sensitivity of the material on them. It seems that once these people are certified, they 

leave the company and they have to re-train someone else.  

 

Chief Anderson said some other departments are using one person company out of Washington, NH but 

the problem with this is that if their computers go down, they need immediate help which isn’t always an 

option with a one person service.  

 

4. Dues and Subscriptions: This has gone up because he would like to put a member of his 

department on the Central NH Special Operations Unit. This is a team that is comprised of a lot 

of surrounding town’s officers who are trained together who can respond to missing people, 

warrants, active shooters, etc. Sutton has all three of their full time people on the special response 

team. To have a member of the agency in the unit, they charge $3,000 to belong to the unit. The 



Budget Committee  DRAFT – December 9, 2015 

Meeting Minutes  Page 4 of 6 

 

 

officer brings back training to the rest of the unit. It is under this line because it is membership 

dues they have to pay. Officer Thorpe, a past officer, was on the team but when he left, there was 

no one in the department interested in joining the unit, until now. Officer Lamson would like to 

be a member of this special unit and Chief Andersen feels he is ready.  

 

Chair Prohl asked about Radio Repair and Replacement. He wondered what the $5,000 was based on. 

Chief Andersen said some of this is for maintenance. Some is to purchase two portable radios for the 

agency. Years ago they had grants for Motorola radios that were great. They recently got a grant for 

Harris radios but they are not working well. One broke and they sent it out to be repaired and was told 

that they would look at it for $500.  

 

Chair Prohl asked for the price for gasoline Chief used in his budget. Chief Andersen said he didn’t use a 

price per gallon but tried to keep with the amounts used in the past. He took the amount down by $1,500.  

 

Mr. Hudson asked about surveillance equipment. Chief Andersen said they have it under the detective’s 

line and it is $1,000. 

 

Ms. Piotrow wondered why heat/lights/electricity was under government buildings and not the 

departments. Ms. Johnson said the accounts come from the State which they use. They take all the 

buildings and keep it in one section. Dr. Wilson said some buildings have multiple uses and are used by 

more than one department. That would be difficult to determine which department should pay for those 

services.   Ms. Hallquist agreed and noted that the State standardized the coding of budget accounts so 

that comparisons could be made among the 234 towns and cities, as all would be using the same chart of 

accounts.   

 

Mr. Lorio wonders if the $1/hour was enough to keep people on with regards to the differential. Chief 

Andersen said it was a start. He would like to be able to offer this to new people coming in and to those 

currently working the midnight shift. He would be very happy to have this amount be offered. 

 

Chief Andersen said Henniker went to the State Police pay scale in 1976. Young officers are often pulled 

to work for the State Police. Dr. Wilson asked what the difference per hour the State police officers and 

New London officers are paid. Chief Andersen said State Police officers get $4/more an hour on average. 

He added that the city of Lebanon pays $6/more per hour to start if someone from New London left and 

went there.  

 

IT WAS MOVED (Bruce Hudson) AND SECONDED (Chris Lorio) to approve the Police 

Department budget as presented at $1,012,601.  

THE MOTION WAS APPROVED UNANIMOUSLY.   

 

Dispatch 

Ms. Piotrow asked about the special chairs that were discussed last year. Chief Andersen said they have 

one chair and will need to purchase another one this year. The chairs they want are $3,000 each but he has 

not purchased them. The cheaper chairs wear out quickly as they are used 24/7. They need weight-rated 

chairs which are expensive. They will purchase a better chair in July, which will not cost $3,000 but will 

still be better than what they have. 

 

Equipment Repair and Maintenance: this $10,000 is for the maintenance of the new equipment. The 

consoles are about ready to be put in. They are looking to raise their tower by 20’ (which will cost 

$6,000) and have their antennas and radios tuned, and cleaned. Chief Andersen is not sure he will spend 

the entire amount. This is one of those line items that he would like to keep some funds in for instances 



Budget Committee  DRAFT – December 9, 2015 

Meeting Minutes  Page 5 of 6 

 

 

when unanticipated repairs are needed. There is a chance they would need to go repair something at the 

top of Mt. Kearsarge.  

 

Dr. Wilson said they were advised to budget 7% of the value of the equipment for maintenance contracts. 

This would be about $21,000.  Chief Andersen said when the equipment starts getting older they will look 

to put more into this line for maintenance. Right now they are just getting ready to install it.  

 

IT WAS MOVED (Phyllis Piotrow) AND SECONDED (Bruce Hudson) to approve $371,213 for the 

dispatch budget. THE MOTION WAS APPROVED UNANIMOUSLY. 

 

Fire Department 

Chair Prohl referred to on-call pay, and asked if the Chief felt that he would spend it all. Chief Lyon said 

he did. This year they are requesting a budget of $58,589 for part-time firefighter wages and $19,600 for 

on-call pay. Comparable towns: Sunapee is $85,000 and Newbury is $100,000 in 2013 and they are 

expecting to increase it to $120,000 this year. Chief Lyon is concerned with response time and not 

wanting people to get burnt out. He would like to see an increase from $2.50/hour to $3.33/hour for on 

call firefighters.  

 

Vehicle Repair and Maintenance: $18,700.  Chair Prohl asked how much of this is for emergency use. 

Chief Lyon said about $1,200 for each apparatus for service. New winter tires will be needed for the new 

utility truck. They purchased rims this year so they don’t have to change things over and will only be 

putting the snow tires on when needed. Chief Lyon wouldn’t recommend lowering this line. 

 

Mr. Hudson said the Fire Department depends on a lot from the friends of the NLFD. How much comes 

in from them? Chief Lyon said they don’t send out requests for funds every year. They solicited for a 

shed, architectural drawings for the expansion, vehicle exhaust system, kitchen appliances AV equipment, 

lockers, and office equipment. As a need comes up, they solicit for help. They have received over 

$300,000 of privately donated funds over the last 20 years.  

 

Mr. Beck asked about the recommendation for salary increase for himself. Chief Lyon said this 

recommendation came from the Board of Firewards. He has been the Fire Chief for 8.5 years. Mr. Ensign 

said this salary recommendation is what prompted the discussion about the salary pool of funds for the 

whole town.  The Board of Firewards did a survey of reasonably comparable towns to determine salary 

recommendations and from that requested an 8% increase last year for the Chief but only a 4% increase 

was given. This year they put just under $80,000 in as a salary rate. None of the towns surveyed are this 

low but they are working on a step system to bring him up to where he should be compensated. Mr. 

Ensign offered that he doesn’t feel that the entire $100,000 salary pool will be used; he expects that some 

employees may be getting paid fairly already. This should be a thoughtful and thorough process. The 

Board of Firewards recognizes that they need to set a goal and work towards it.  

 

Mr. Ensign feels they are fortunate to have Chief Lyon in New London and feels he is below the mark 

where salary is concerned, and has been for quite some time.  

 

Office Supplies: the increase is for a one-time purchase of a replacement of a 2007 computer.  

 

IT WAS MOVED (Phyllis Piotrow) AND SECONDED (Tyler Beck) to approve the amount of 

$364,700 for the Fire Department budget. THE MOTION WAS APPROVED UNANIMOUSLY. 

 

 

 



Budget Committee  DRAFT – December 9, 2015 

Meeting Minutes  Page 6 of 6 

 

 

Firewards 

IT WAS MOVED (Bruce Hudson) AND SECONDED (Chris Lorio) to accept the Firewards budget 

of $540. THE MOTION WAS APPROVED UNANIMOUSLY. 

 

Emergency Management 

Ms. Piotrow wondered what equipment was included in the equipment line. Ms. Hallquist, Emergency 

Management Director, said this is for the maintenance of the generators, located at the Town Office, 

Police Station and Fire Station. There is a line for the Hazmat Team fee of $2,000. The $400 increase in 

Small Tools and Equipment is for a flat screen TV to be installed in the Syd Crook Conference Room, 

which is the Emergency Operations Center for the Town in the event of an emergency.  Ms. Hallquist 

noted that the TV could also be used for board meetings to display meeting materials for members and 

attendees to view.   

 

IT WAS MOVED (Bruce Hudson) AND SECONDED (Phyllis Piotrow) to approve the emergency 

management budget for $6,300. THE MOTION WAS APPROVED UNANIMOUSLY. 

 

It was noted that the next meeting of the Budget Committee would be Wednesday, December 16th at 7pm.  

 

IT WAS MOVED (Bruce Hudson) AND SECONDED (Tyler Beck) to adjourn the meeting. 

THE MOTION WAS APPROVED UNANIMOUSLY. 

 

Meeting adjourned at 8:58pm.  

 

Respectfully submitted, 

 

 

 

Kristy Heath, Recording Secretary 

Town of New London 

 

 


